
HENRY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
MINUTES 

 
August 23, 2011 – 3:00 pm 

 
The Henry County Board of Supervisors held its regular meeting on August 23, 

2011, at 3:00 pm in the Board Meeting Room of the County Administration Building, 
King’s Mountain Road, Collinsville, Virginia.  The following Board members were 
present: Chairman Debra Buchanan, Vice-Chairman H.G. Vaughn, Jim Adams, Milton 
Kendall, Tommy Slaughter, and Joe Bryant. 

Staff members present were Benny Summerlin, County Administrator; Tim Hall, 
Deputy County Administrator; George Lyle, County Attorney; Michelle Via, 
Administrative Assistant; Darrell Jones, Director of Finance; and Richard Stanfield, 
Deputy Director of Finance. 
  Sheriff Lane Perry, Major Steve Eanes, Sgt. Ronnie Minter, and Deputy Mike 
Hooper from the Sheriff’s Office were present. Debbie Hall and Paul Collins of the 
Martinsville Bulletin were also present. 

 

 
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

Mr. Adams gave the invocation and Mr. Slaughter led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 

Chairman Buchanan called the meeting to order and welcomed everyone 
present. She stated that anyone who wishes to be on the Agenda for the Board’s 
regular business meeting held at 3:00 pm must contact the County Administrator’s 
Office seven days prior to a scheduled meeting.  Those wishing to speak at the Board’s 
public meeting starting at 6:00 pm may do so under Agenda Item - Matters Presented 
by the Public
 

 without contacting the County Administrator’s Office.  

 
ITEMS OF CONSENT: 

(Copy included in Board’s File). 
Confirmation of Minutes of Meetings 

 
 July 26, 2011 

 

(Copy included in Board’s File). 
Approval of Accounts Payable 

 

(Copy included in Board’s File). 

Consideration of Resolution Asking Commonwealth of Virginia to Restore 
Locality Cuts 

 
 



Mr. Adams moved that the Items of Consent be adopted as presented, seconded 
by Mr. Kendall.  The motion carried 6 to 0.  
 

 

CONSIDERATION OF PROCLAMATION ESTABLISHING SEPTEMBER 2011 AS 
“BABY SAFETY MONTH” IN HENRY COUNTY 

Mr. Summerlin said the Martinsville Exchange Club is asking the Board to adopt 
a resolution establishing September 2011 as “Baby Safety Month” in Henry County. The 
Exchange Club’s national project is child abuse prevention.  

Mr. Vaughn read the proclamation aloud and moved that the Board adopt it as 
presented, seconded by Mr. Slaughter and unanimously carried. Mr. Ralph Lawson was 
present to accept the proclamation. 
 

 

REPORT ON ISSUES REGARDING REFUSE DEPARTMENT AND CONVENIENCE 
CENTERS 

Mr. Summerlin said some questions were raised at the July Board meeting 
regarding County policies on what items can be disposed of at the County’s 
Convenience Center sites. Mr. Summerlin said Refuse Department director Mike Amos 
and Deputy County Administrator Tim Hall reviewed current policies and looked into the 
feasibility of accepting limited construction debris and possibly tires.  

Mr. Amos was present to update the Board on overall operations as well as 
provide recommendations on the Board’s request. Mr. Amos showed pictures of the 
convenience center sites before and after the County began manning those sites. Mr. 
Amos also reviewed the cost savings generated by manned sites. Mr. Amos explained 
that the current policies are working well and to change those policies would not only 
increase costs but would also cause the County to regress in its refuse operations. Mr. 
Amos said he continually strives to make improvements to Henry County’s refuse 
operations and in comparison to other localities, the County’s is as good if not better 
than most.  

Mr. Hall said if it were left up to staff, there would be no changes to the current 
policies but added that they also understand the importance of meeting residents’ 
needs. Mr. Hall and Mr. Amos proposed allowing County residents the option to bring 
up to five items considered household debris (doors, shutters, two-by-fours, etc.) to 
convenience centers. Mr. Hall said they also looked at the feasibility of accepting tires 
but quickly determined this would not be a good option because it would require site 
monitors to accept and process payments and could inconvenience residents more 
because they would have to go to the Treasurer’s Office to pay for disposing of tires. 
Mr. Hall said the best option is to encourage residents to take tires directly to the 
transfer station which will dispose of tires for a fee of $3 per tire. Mr. Summerlin added 
that staff also looked at accepting tires at the Household Hazardous Waste Day but 
determined that doing so would add to the already significant cost of providing the 
annual service. 

After much discussion, it was the general consensus of the Board to leave the 
current policies as is and add more public education. Mr. Vaughn thanked Mr. Amos 
and Mr. Hall for their work.  



 

 
REPORT ON DELINQUENT TAX COLLECTION EFFORTS 

Mr. Scott Grindstaff reviewed the monthly reports on delinquent tax collection 
efforts and reported that decal sales are down mainly due to the reduction in fleet 
vehicles and abatements. Mr. Summerlin said he also feels that neighboring localities’ 
discontinuance of decals has affected Henry County’s sales. Mr. Slaughter said he 
recently saw an older license plate that included a place for the decal and questioned 
why it was necessary to display decals on the windshield. Mr. George Lyle, County 
Attorney, said that Virginia State Code specifies where the decal must be placed as well 
as the size of the decal. Mr. Summerlin said that years ago fire and rescue personnel 
did have a license plate that included a fire/rescue strip which served as the decal. 
However, that was discontinued for consistency purposes to make law enforcement 
easier. Ms. Buchanan added that the decals provide an enforcement tool at the 
convenience center sites which in turn saves money. In addition, it compels people to 
pay their taxes.  

 

 

MONTHLY UPDATE FROM THE MARTINSVILLE-HENRY COUNTY ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

Mr. Mark Heath, President of the Martinsville-Henry County Economic 
Development Corporation, was present to make the monthly update to the Board. Mr. 
Heath reviewed a summary of activities by division (Copy included in Board’s File). Mr. 
Heath said the EDC is working with a total of 25 projects, including 8 active projects.  

Mr. Heath reported that the Southern Virginia Regional Authority is off to a good 
start and we already have our first lead. Mr. Heath said Lt. Governor Boling will be in 
South Boston on August 26 for a brief press conference at 11:15 and everyone is 
invited to attend. Afterwards, Lt. Governor Boling will be in our area to familiarize 
himself with Henry County. In addition, Mr. Heath said U.S. Secretary of Commerce 
Rebecca Blank visited Martinsville for a roundtable discussion with the EDC board, 
business leaders, educators and other economic development officials. 

 

 
ADDITIONAL APPROPRIATION RE: DMV GRANT – SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

Mr. Summerlin said Sheriff Perry is asking the Board to accept and appropriate a 
Department of Motor Vehicles Grant through the Virginia Highway Safety program in the 
amount of $30,278. Mr. Summerlin said the grant would be used for deputies’ overtime 
and to purchase three radar units. The grant requires a local match of $6,055, which 
Sheriff Perry will take from his current budget. 

Mr. Bryant made a motion to accept and appropriate the DMV grant as 
requested, seconded by Mr. Slaughter and carried 6 to 0. 

 
 
 
 



 

AWARD OF CONTRACT RE: EMERGENCY MEDICAL SUPPLIES – PUBLIC 
SAFETY 

Mr. Summerlin said Director of Public Safety Dale Wagoner is asking the Board 
to award a contract to Boundtree Medical, Inc. of Dublin, Ohio for the purchase of 
medical supplies. Mr. Summerlin said pricing is on a per-unit basis, and Mr. Wagoner 
indicates the total amount may cross the threshold of $15,000 that requires Board 
approval. 

Mr. Kendall made a motion to award the contract to Boundtree Medical, 
seconded by Mr. Bryant and unanimously carried. 
 

 
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

 
 

Comments from the Board 

 Mr. Adams asked Mr. Dale Wagoner to report on the recent earthquake. Mr. 
Wagoner said the earthquake measured a 5.9 magnitude with the epicenter in Louisa 
County. Mr. Wagoner said there have been minimal reports of damage. Mr. Wagoner 
said hopefully residents will take this opportunity to become more prepared in the event 
of any natural disaster. 
 Mr. Summerlin said that he and Mr. Slaughter went on the farm tour hosted by 
the Blue Ridge Soil and Water Conservation District yesterday. Mr. Summerlin said they 
visit the Henry County area about every three years and while we are not an agricultural 
community, it is still important to our economy and the tour was very informative. Mr. 
Summerlin reported that the Sheriff’s Office went through its onsite accreditation review 
last week and it went very well. Mr. Summerlin said they should receive the final review 
in September. Mr. Summerlin congratulated Ms. Buchanan on her recent appointment 
by the Governor to the Virginia Workforce Board. 
 Mr. Slaughter asked the Sheriff if there were any leads on the recent thefts of 
telephone lines. Sheriff Perry said they had made some arrests on scrap metal thefts. 
 Ms. Buchanan said she plans to have a community meeting on September 13 at 
7:00 p.m. at the Horsepasture Ruritan Building and invited everyone to attend. 
 Mr. Hall reminded everyone of the joint community event marking the 10th 
anniversary of 9/11 to be held on September 11 at Martinsville High School. 
 

 
CLOSED MEETING 

 Mr. Adams moved that the Board go into a closed meeting at 3:57 p.m., 
seconded by Mr. Vaughn and unanimously carried to discuss the following. 
 

1) §2.2-3711(A)1 for Discussion of Appointees to the Blue Ridge Regional 
Library Board.  

 
2) §2.2-3711(A)7 for Consultation with the County Attorney re: Pending Legal 

Matters. 
 



3) §2.2-3711(A)3 for Consultation with the County Attorney re: 
Acquisition/Disposal of Real Estate. 

 
4) §2.2-3711(A)5 for Consultation with the County Attorney re: Discussion of 

As-Yet Unannounced Industries. 
 

 
OPEN MEETING: 

 The Board returned to an open meeting at 5:56 p.m. on a motion by Mr. Bryant, 
seconded by Mr. Kendall and unanimously carried. 
  

 
CERTIFICATION OF CLOSED MEETING: 

Mr. Hall read the Certification of the Closed Meeting and took a roll call vote.   
Those voting in the affirmative were Mr. Slaughter, Mr. Bryant, Mr. Kendall, Mr. Vaughn, 
Mr. Adams, and Ms. Buchanan. 

  
There being no action taken during closed session, Mr. Adams explained the 

application process for anyone wishing to be appointed to the various boards. Mr. 
Adams said there was a recent resignation from the Blue Ridge Regional Library Board 
and it was the Board’s consensus to advertise the vacancy to allow all citizens the 
opportunity to apply if they wish. Mr. Summerlin said the Nominee Form for vacancies 
can be found on the County website. 
 

The Board recessed its meeting at 5:57 p.m. until the 6:00 evening session. 
 
Ms. Buchanan called the meeting back to order at 6:00 p.m. and welcomed 

everyone present. 
 

 

PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION TO SCOTT SPENCER, DUSTY HYLTON AND 
TONY CHANEY OF RAKES CONSTRUCTION COMPANY FOR LIFE-SAVING 
ACTIONS ON JULY 12, 2011 

Ms. Buchanan said staff has prepared a resolution to honor three employees of 
Rakes Construction Company – Scott Spencer, Dusty Hylton and Tony Chaney who at 
a Columbia, SC hotel on July 12, 2011, – put themselves at considerable risk to save 
the life of a man at the bottom of the hotel’s pool. Mr. Spencer’s mother, who is also an 
employee of Rakes Construction, was present to accept the resolutions on their behalf 
as they were out of town working. 

Mr. Bryant read the resolution aloud and Mr. Vaughn moved that the Board adopt 
the resolution, seconded by Mr. Adams and carried 6 to 0. 

 
 
 
 



 

PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTIONS TO HENRY COUNTY ALL-STARS PONY 
LEAGUE BASEBALL TEAM AND VIRGINIA CARDINALS BASEBALL TEAM 

Mr. Vaughn read aloud a resolution honoring the Henry County PONY League 
All-Stars who advanced to national competition falling one game short of reaching the 
World Series. Mr. Vaughn moved that the Board adopt the resolution, seconded by Mr. 
Slaughter and unanimously carried. 

Mr. Adams read aloud a resolution honoring the Virginia Cardinals U12 team who 
also advanced to nationals and went on to win the championship. Mr. Adams moved 
that the Board adopt the resolution, seconded by Mr. Vaughn and carried 6 to 0. 

Members of both teams along with their coaches were present to accept the 
resolutions. 

 

 
MATTERS PRESENTED BY THE PUBLIC 

 There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARING - REGIONAL WATER SUPPLY PLAN AND CHANGES TO 
COUNTY CODE REGARDING DROUGHT DECLARATION 

Mr. Summerlin stated that several years ago, Virginia adopted legislation 
requiring every locality to develop a water supply plan and drought ordinance. Mr. 
Summerlin said Henry County chose to partner with the West Piedmont Planning 
District Commission as well as other localities in the WPPD to create a Regional Water 
Supply Plan and implement a drought ordinance. Mr. Summerlin said this effort is in 
cooperation with the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality, and the plan must 
be adopted by November. Mr. Summerlin said the Board must approve a resolution 
indicating the County’s participation in the Regional Water Supply Plan and hold a 
public hearing on the adoption of a new drought ordinance to the Henry County Code. 

Ms. Buchanan opened the public hearing at 6:20 p.m.; there being no one 
present who wished to speak, the public hearing was closed at 6:20 p.m. Mr. Vaughn 
made a motion to adopt the resolution and changes to the Henry County Code, 
seconded by Mr. Adams and unanimously carried.  

 

 
PUBLIC HEARING - EDWARD BYRNE LAW ENFORCEMENT JAG GRANT 

Mr. Summerlin said last month the Board approved the Sheriff’s Office’s 
application for an Edward Byrne Justice Assistance Grant in the amount of $22,996 
over the next three years. Mr. Summerlin said the grant would be used to continue 
Neighborhood Watch and other community-based initiatives. A public hearing is 
required as part of the grant process. 

Ms. Buchanan opened the public hearing at 6:21 p.m. There being no one 
present who wished to speak, Ms. Buchanan closed the public hearing at 6:22 p.m. Mr. 
Adams noted that no action is required by the Board and requested staff to forward 
information to the Sheriff’s Office that a public hearing was held. 
 



 

PUBLIC HEARING - CHANGE TO HENRY COUNTY CODE REGARDING 
PNEUMATIC GUNS 

Mr. Summerlin said action by the 2011 Virginia General Assembly regarding the 
use of pneumatic/air-powered guns shifted regulatory responsibility from the locality to 
the Commonwealth. According to County Attorney George Lyle, that action means the 
Henry County Code is superseded on this issue by the Virginia Code; therefore the 
Board must repeal the section of the current ordinance which regulates the use of 
pneumatic weapons. Mr. Summerlin said a change in the Henry County Code requires a 
public hearing. 

Ms. Buchanan opened the public hearing at 6:23 p.m. There was no one present 
who wished to speak. Ms. Buchanan closed the public hearing at 6:23 p.m. Mr. Adams 
asked what citizens should do if they encounter problems that are not regulated by local 
ordinances. Mr. Lyle said state law edicts that you have a right to discharge an air-
powered weapon on your property as long as you exercise reasonable care in doing so 
and you take reasonable precautions to keep the discharge on your property. Mr. Lyle 
said the only problem he foresees is if for instance pellets stray onto your property or 
damage your property, then you would call the Sheriff’s Office and they would 
investigate and determine if reasonable precautions were taken by the responsible 
party. Mr. Adams asked if the law includes paint balls. Mr. Lyle said paint ball guns are 
specifically identified as being a pneumatic gun. 

Mr. Bryant made a motion to amend the Henry County Code to reflect changes in 
the regulation of air-powered guns, seconded by Mr. Kendall and carried 6 to 0. 
 

 
GENERAL HIGHWAY MATTERS 

Ms. Lisa Hughes, Residency Administrator for the Virginia Department of 
Transportation, was present to update the Board on General Highway Matters.  
 

 Design public hearing for the Preston Road project scheduled for September 
29, 5-7 p.m., at the Horsepasture Volunteer Fire Department; plans will be 
available next week for review. 

 
 Intersection of North Daniels Creek and Route 220 scheduled to be repaved 

beginning next week. 
 
 Patching roads county-wide as needed; hopefully there will be a paving 

schedule next year for secondary roads. 
 
 Route 648 – plan to widen shoulder four feet by bringing in material to even 

up and smooth out in the area of the church; install a berm on backside to 
control run-off and direct it down the slope. Ms. Hughes said this has been 
successful in a number of locations where they could not afford to place 
guardrails. Ms. Hughes said she has not obtained estimates for the guardrail 
yet because she wanted to get the shoulder work done first, but she 
estimates it will be $25-$30,000. Ms. Hughes said they do not have money in 



the six-year plan or construction budget. If funded, it could be included in the 
budget when we update the six-year plan next spring or with Board approval, 
remove from an existing project now. 

 
 Mr. Bryant asked Ms. Hughes if she had had a chance to look at the issue 

they discussed on Eliza Reamy. Ms. Hughes said they have not had an 
opportunity to work on that project yet but it is scheduled to be done. 

 
 Mr. Kendall inquired about placing a “Tractor Crossing” sign on Route 610. 

Ms. Hughes said she would review the sight distance in the area and 
determine if one is needed. 

 
 Mr. Adams asked Ms. Hughes and the Sheriff’s Office if they could request 

staff to be more conscious of missing street signs and report them 
accordingly to Mr. Lee Clark. Mr. Adams said the missing signs present a 
challenge to emergency responders when calls are dispatched by 911. Mr. 
Adams said Mr. Clark needs details such as if it is just the sign missing, the 
sign and pole, if it just needs to be straightened, etc. Ms. Hughes said signs 
other than street signs should be reported to VDOT. 

 
 Mr. Vaughn asked if there are any plans to resurface Church Street in 

Ridgeway. Ms. Hughes said that all of Route 220 in Ridgeway is scheduled to 
be repaved this summer. 

 
 Ms. Buchanan asked that VDOT consider increasing the number of litter signs 

county-wide. 
 
 Ms. Hughes said she had received requests for “Watch for Children” signs on 

Pony Lane and Carson Drive in the Reed Creek District; she plans to review 
both requests and determine if signs are needed. Mr. Slaughter made a 
motion to approve “Watch for Children” signs on Pony Lane and Carson 
Drive, seconded by Mr. Bryant and carried 6 to 0. 

 
There being no further business to discuss, Mr. Adams moved to adjourn at 6:35 

p.m., seconded by Mr. Slaughter and carried 6 to 0.  
 


